
 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSIPPI  

NORTHERN DIVISION  
  

  
  
  
  
  

    Case No. 3:21-CV-554-CWR-FKB 
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
 

PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR FINAL JUDGMENT BY DEFAULT AGAINST  
DEFENDANTS MCHENRY AND FIRST SOUTH INVESTMENTS, LLC 

  
Pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 55(b)(2) and L.U.Civ.R 7(b)(2), Plaintiff  Securities and 

Exchange Commission respectfully moves the Court to enter final judgment by default against 

Defendants William B. McHenry, Jr. (“McHenry”) and First South Investments, LLC 

(collectively, “Defendants”) that: 

1) Permanently enjoins Defendants from violating from violating Section 5 of the 

Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”) [15 U.S.C. §§ 77e] and Section 15(a) of 

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 [15 U.S.C. § 78o(a)]; 

2) Orders McHenry to pay a civil monetary penalty of $80,000 pursuant to Section 

20(d) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)]; and 

3) Orders such other relief as the Court deems just, proper and in the best interest of 

investors. 

  
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION,  
  
Plaintiff,  
  

v.  
  
WILLIAM B. MCHENRY, JR. and 
FIRST SOUTH INVESTMENTS, LLC ,   
  

Defendants.  
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Plaintiff is also filing a memorandum of law in support of this motion, as well as a 

proposed final judgment for the Court’s consideration. 

Respectfully submitted this 26th day of July, 2022. 

      /s/W. Shawn Murnahan 
W. Shawn Murnahan 
Senior Trial Counsel 
Georgia Bar No. 529940 
Tel: (404) 842-7669 
Email: murnahanw@sec.gov 

 
COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFF 
Securities and Exchange Commission 
Atlanta Regional Office 
950 East Paces Ferry Road, N.E., Suite 900 
Atlanta, GA  30326-1382 
Tel (main): (404) 842-7600 
Fax: (404) 842-7666 

 
OF COUNSEL  
 
Darren J. LaMarca 
United States Attorney for the 
Southern District of Mississippi 
                                                                         
Angela Givens Williams 
Assistant United States Attorney 
Miss. Bar No. 102469 
501 East Court Street, Suite 4.430 
Jackson, Mississippi 39201 
Tel: 601-973-2822              
angela.williams3@usdoj.gov 
 
Civil Division 
United States Attorney's Office 
Southern District of Mississippi 
501 East Court Street, Suite 4-430 
Jackson, MS 39201 
Tel: (601) 973-2887 
Fax: (601) 965-4409
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Certificate of Service 

I hereby certify that on July 26, 2022, I electronically filed the foregoing with the Clerk 

of the Court using the ECF system which sent notification of such filing to counsel of record, 

and I hereby certify that I have emailed the document to wbmcjr@gmail.com and mailed by 

United States Postal Service the document to the following non-ECF participants: 

     William B. McHenry, Jr. 
     P.O. Box 1769 
     Ridgeland, MS 39158 
 
         /s/W. Shawn Murnahan 
         W. Shawn Murnahan 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSIPPI  

NORTHERN DIVISION  
  

  
  
  
  
  

    Case No. 3:21-CV-554-CWR-FKB 
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
 

PLAINTIFF’S MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF ITS  
MOTION FOR FINAL JUDGMENT BY DEFAULT AGAINST  

DEFENDANTS MCHENRY AND FIRST SOUTH INVESTMENTS, LLC 
  

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 

55(b)(2) and L.U.Civ.R 7(b)(2), respectfully files this memorandum of law in support of its 

motion for final judgment by default against Defendants William B. McHenry, Jr. (“McHenry”) 

and First South Investments, LLC (“First South”) (collectively, “Defendants”). 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

I. Procedural History 

On August 26, 2021, the SEC filed its Complaint against Defendants [Dkt. No. 1, 

Complaint (“Compl.”)].  The SEC properly served Defendants with the Complaint and Summons.  

On September 29, 2021, Defendants filed two identical documents entitled “Response to Complaint 

and Motion to Dismiss.”  [Dkt. Nos. 3-4.]  Neither document admitted or denied the specific 

allegations set forth in the Complaint as required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(b)(1)(B).  The SEC filed an 

  
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION,  
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v.  
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opposition on October 13, 2021 [Dkt. No. 6] and the Court denied Defendants’ “Response to 

Complaint and Motion to Dismiss” on November 16, 2021.  [Dkt. No. 7.] 

On January 28, 2022, the SEC filed a motion pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 55(a) for entry of 

clerk’s default against Defendants [Dkt. No. 9], which was entered by the clerk on January 31, 

2022.  [Dkt. No. 10.]  On February 1, 2022, Defendants again filed two identical documents, this 

time entitled “Motion to Vacate Clerk’s Entry of Default and Defendant’s Response.”  [Dkt. No. 

11-12.]  Again, neither document admitted or denied the specific allegations set forth in the 

Complaint as required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(b)(1)(B).  The SEC opposed the motion [Dkt. No. 14], 

and the Court subsequently denied it on March 8, 2022.  [Dkt. No. 16.] 

II. The Complaint’s Now-Admitted Factual Allegations 

Upon entry of default, a defendant admits the complaint’s well-pleaded facts.  See 

Nishimatsu Constr. Co. v. Houston Nat’l Bank, 515 F.2d 1200, 1206 (5th Cir. 1975).  Here, the 

uncontested factual allegations in the Complaint establish that Defendants are liable for failing to 

comply with the registration provisions of the federal securities laws, as set out below. 

A. Overview of Defendants’ Violations of the Registration Provisions of the 
Federal Securities Laws 

 
Starting in at least 2010, McHenry, operating directly and through his solely-owned entity, 

First South, sold millions of dollars in unregistered promissory notes fraudulently offered by Arthur 

Lamar Adams (“Adams”) and Madison Timber Properties, LLC (“Madison Timber”).  In selling 

these unregistered securities, Defendants regularly engaged in the business of effecting securities 

transactions for others, but failed to register as brokers.  (Compl. ¶1.)  By virtue of their conduct, 

Defendants violated Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”) [15 

U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and 77e(c)] and Section 15(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange 
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Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 78o(a)].  (Id. ¶2.)  Unless enjoined, Defendants are likely to commit such 

violations again in the future.  (Id.) 

B. Defendants’ Sale of Madison Timber Promissory Notes 

Madison Timber was a Ponzi scheme offering fraud primarily spearheaded by Adams.  

(Compl. ¶10.)  Operating primarily in Madison, Mississippi, Madison Timber raised large sums of 

money in exchange for promissory notes that promised a high rate of return.  (Id. ¶11.)  Madison 

Timber purported to use the invested funds to purchase timber rights from landowners in the 

Southeast, and allegedly generated profits by reselling the timber rights to lumber mills.  (Id.) 

Starting in at least 2010, Defendants began soliciting and selling promissory note 

investments for Madison Timber.  The sale of these promissory notes continued until April 19, 

2018.  (Id. ¶12.)  Defendants sold approximately promissory 159 notes to at least 28 investors that 

resulted in Madison Timber investments between thirty-one and thirty-four million dollars.  (Id. 

¶13.)  McHenry earned a 10% commission on those note sales and a monthly stipend that ultimately 

brought him over three million dollars in commissions.  (Id.) 

The promissory notes were not registered as securities with the Commission.  (Id. ¶14.)  

Neither McHenry nor First South were registered as broker with the Commission.  (Id. ¶15.) 

ARGUMENT 

I. The Default Judgment Standard 

Entry of a default judgment is left to a court’s “sound judicial discretion,” which is given 

deference upon review.  See James v. Frame, 6 F.3d 307, 310 (5th Cir. 1993); Mason v. Lister, 

562 F.2d 343, 345 (5th Cir. 1977).  In determining whether to enter a default judgment, a court 

should accept all the Complaint’s factual allegations as true, except those relating to damages.  See 
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United States v. Shipco Gen., Inc., 814 F.2d 1011, 1014 (5th Cir. 1987).  An appropriate damages 

award remains to be established by proof unless the amount is liquidated or can be mathematically 

computed.  See United Artists Corp. v. Freeman, 605 F.2d 854, 857 (5th Cir. 1979).  “Where the 

amount of damages and/or costs can be determined with certainty by reference to the pleadings and 

supporting documents, and where a hearing would not be beneficial, a hearing is unnecessary.”  

James, 6 F.3d at 310; see also United Artists Corp., 605 F.2d at 857 (holding that a damages 

hearing is not required if there is “a demonstration by detailed affidavits establishing the necessary 

facts”).  Here, the Court can determine the appropriate remedies to be imposed based on the 

allegations in the Complaint and the Declaration of Carol Hahn (“Hahn Decl.”) filed in support of 

this Motion.  The Commission is “entitled to all reasonable inferences from the evidence offered” in 

support of its motion.  Shipco Gen., 814 F.2d at 1014. 

II. The Complaint Establishes Defendants’ Securities Law Violations 

 The Complaint’s allegations establish that Defendants are liable for violating Sections 5(a) 

and 5(c) of the Securities Act and Section 15(a) of the Exchange Act.  (See Compl. ¶¶16-21.) 

A. The Madison Timber Promissory Notes Are Securities 

 The Supreme Court has held that every note is presumed to be a security unless it bears a 

strong resemblance to a judicially created list of non-security notes (including consumer financing 

and mortgage notes) or the note is of a type that should be added to the list.  Reves v. Ernst & 

Young, 494 U.S. 56, 65, 67 (1990).  To determine whether a note bears a resemblance to the non-

security notes on the list (or should be added to the list), the Supreme Court has identified the 

following factors: (1) the motivation of the parties for entering the transaction; (2) the plan of 

distribution of the instrument and whether there is common trading for speculation or investment; 
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(3) the reasonable expectations of investors; and (4) whether there are risk-reducing factors that 

would make application of the securities laws unnecessary.  Id. at 66-67.   

 Application of the Reves factors shows that the Madison Timber promissory notes are 

securities.  Specifically: (1) investors gave Defendants money with the expectation that Madison 

Timber would acquire and sell timber-harvesting rights and pay investment returns from the profits 

made by reselling those rights; (2) the notes were offered to at least 250 investors in dozens of 

states; (3) Defendants marketed the notes as investments and referred to those who purchased them 

as “investors;” and (4) the notes were uncollateralized, uninsured, and would escape federal 

regulation entirely if the securities laws did not apply.  Id.   

In addition, in three previous matters related to Madison Timber, the Court has approved 

settlements premised on the conclusion that the Madison Timber promissory notes were securities.  

See SEC v. Adams, et al., No. 3:18-cv-00252 (S.D. Miss.); SEC v. Kelly, et al., No. 3:19-cv-00585 

(S.D. Miss.); and, SEC v. Billings, et al., No. 3:20-cv-00050 (S.D. Miss.). 

B. Defendants Sold Unregistered Securities 

1. A Prima Facie Section 5 Case Exists 

Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act prohibit the offer or sale of securities through 

the mail or interstate commerce unless a registration statement has been filed and is in effect.  To 

establish a prima facie case for a Section 5 violation, the Commission must prove (1) no registration 

statement was in effect or had been filed as to the securities, (2) the defendants sold or offered to 

sell the securities, and (3) the offer or sale was made through use of interstate means.  SEC v. 

Kahlon, 873 F.3d 500, 504 (5th Cir. 2017) (quoting SEC v. Cont’l Tobacco Co., 463 F.2d 137, 155 

(5th Cir. 1972)).  Scienter is not required to show a violation of Section 5. 
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A prima facie Section 5 case exists here because Madison Timber did not file a registration 

statement with the Commission for its promissory notes and Defendants sold those securities 

through emails, text messages, and telephone calls to investors across the United States. 

  2. No Exemptions from Registration Were Available 

No exemptions from registration applied to the Madison Timber promissory notes offering.  

First, an exemption under Section 3(a)(11) of the Securities Act, which is limited to purely in-state 

offerings, is unavailable because the promissory notes were offered and sold to investors in 

numerous states.   

Second, an exemption under Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act is unavailable because it 

only applies to “transactions . . . not involving any public offering.”  For availability of this “private 

placement” exemption, courts consider four factors: (1) the number of offerees; (2) the 

sophistication of offerees; (3) the size and manner of the offering; and (4) the relationship of the 

offerees to the issuer.  SEC v. Premium Income Corp., 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 116607, at *14 (N.D. 

Tex. Aug. 1, 2007) (quoting SEC v. Murphy, 626 F.2d 633, 644-45 (9th Cir. 1980)).   

In considering these factors, the Fifth Circuit has “held that the defendant must establish that 

each and every offeree either had the same information that would have been available in a 

registration statement or had access to such information” to qualify for the exemption.  Swenson v. 

Engelstad, 626 F.2d 421, 425-26 (5th Cir. 1980).  In this case, Madison Timber raised hundreds of 

millions of dollars by selling promissory notes to hundreds of investors throughout the United 

States, including to investors who were not sophisticated or accredited.  Consequently, the many, 

disparate investor relationships involved under Madison Timber could not have afforded the 

investors access to the sort of information that registration reveals.   
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Finally, the Regulation D exemptions found in Securities Act Rules 504, 505 (prior to its 

repeal effective May 22, 2017), and 506(b) or (c) were not available to the Madison Timber 

offering.  The Madison Timber offering was for hundreds of millions of dollars and was made to 

hundreds of investors, many of whom were unsophisticated and unaccredited; there were no 

restrictions placed on who could invest; no investigation was performed to verify if investors were 

accredited; and no investors were provided the financial information required by Rule 502 of 

Regulation D.  

3. Defendants Acted as Unregistered Brokers 

 The Defendants acted as unregistered brokers in violation of Section 15(a)(1) of the 

Exchange Act.  Absent an exemption or exception, Section 15(a)(1) of the Exchange Act makes it 

unlawful for a broker or dealer “to make use of the mails or any means or instrumentality of 

interstate commerce to effect any transactions in, or to induce or attempt to induce the purchase or 

sale of, any security” unless such broker or dealer: (1) is registered with the Commission in 

accordance with Section 15(b); (2) in the case of a natural person, is an associated person of a 

registered broker-dealer; or (3) satisfies the conditions of an exemption or safe harbor.  There is no 

scienter requirement under Section 15(a)(1).  SEC v. Helms, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 110758, at *50 

(W.D. Tex. Aug. 21, 2015), aff’d on reconsideration, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 142704 (W.D. Tex. 

Oct. 20, 2015).   

 Section 3(a)(4) of the Exchange Act defines a “broker” generally as any person “engaged in 

the business of effecting transactions in securities for the account of others.”  This definition 

“connote[s] a certain regularity of participation in securities transactions at key points in the chain 

of distribution.”  Mass. Fin. Servs., Inc. v. Sec. Inv. Prot. Corp., 411 F. Supp. 411, 415 (D. Mass. 

1976), aff’d, 545 F.2d 754 (1st Cir. 1976); see also SEC v. Nat’l Exec. Planners, Ltd., 503 F. Supp. 
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1066, 1073 (M.D.N.C. 1980).  The terms “engaged in the business” and “effecting transactions” are 

not defined by statute; however, courts have considered a number of factors to determine whether a 

person is a broker.  These factors include whether the person: (1) receives transaction-based 

compensation (such as commissions); (2) sells, or previously sold, securities from other issuers; (3) 

is involved in negotiations between the investor and the issuer; (4) makes valuations as to the merits 

of an investment or gives advice; (5) actively solicits investors; and/or (6) handles customer funds 

and securities.  See Helms, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 110758, at *50.  These factors are not exclusive, 

and not all must be satisfied.  See SEC v. Benger, 697 F. Supp. 2d 932, 945 (N.D. Ill. 2010). 

 Defendants acted as unregistered brokers when they actively sought investors through 

solicitations, distributed offering documents, collected investor funds, distributed to investors their 

purported returns, facilitated the exchange of necessary information between Madison Timber and 

investors, and received transaction-based compensation.  Defendants sold approximately $34 

million of Madison Timber promissory notes over at least 8 years, which demonstrates that they 

regularly participated in these transactions.  McHenry received compensation in the form of sales 

commissions, rather than a salary.  Prior to working with Madison Timber, McHenry sold securities 

while associated with a registered broker-dealer.  Defendants also discussed the value of the 

securities with investors and scheduled and participated in meetings between investors and Adams.  

Finally, Defendants were the main, and in many cases sole, contact for investors with Madison 

Timber.  Defendants were not registered with the Commission as broker-dealers or associated with 

a registered broker-dealer at the time they sold Madison Timber’s securities, nor did they qualify for 

an exception or exemption to the broker registration requirements. 
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RELIEF REQUESTED 

I. The Court Should Enter Permanent Injunctions Against Defendants 

Permanent injunctive relief is appropriate if there is a reasonable likelihood that the 

defendants, if not enjoined, will engage in future illegal conduct.  See, e.g., FTC v. Southwest 

Sunsites, Inc., 665 F.2d 711, 718-19 (5th Cir. 1982).  In granting or denying injunctive relief, courts 

consider the following factors: (1) the egregious nature of the defendant’s actions; (2) the isolated or 

recurrent nature of the violations; (3) the degree of scienter involved; (4) the sincerity of the 

defendant’s assurances, if any, against future violations; (5) the defendant’s recognition of the 

wrongful nature of their conduct; and (6) the likelihood that defendant’s occupations will present 

opportunities (or lack thereof) for future violations.  SEC v. Zale Corp., 650 F.2d 718, 720 (5th Cir. 

1981) (quoting SEC v. Blatt, 583 F.2d 1325, n.29 (5th Cir. 1978)).   

Due to his financial situation, and despite his age, McHenry is continuing to work and plans 

to continue to arrange the sales of farm equipment and oil and gas leases.  The sale of the oil and 

gas leases may constitute the sale of securities.  Section 2(a)(1) of the Securities Act defines 

“security” to include any “fractional undivided interest in oil, gas, or other mineral rights,” and 

Section 3(a)(10) of the Exchange Act defines “security” to include any “certificate of interest or 

participation in any profit-sharing agreement or in any oil, gas, or other mineral royalty or lease.”  

Given his securities and fundraising background, his need to earn an income, and his stated plans to 

continue selling oil and gas leases, McHenry may attempt to sell securities again if he is not 

enjoined.  First South should also be enjoined because it was the entity through which McHenry 

sold the Madison Timber promissory notes and previously sold oil and gas leases.    

Case 3:21-cv-00554-CWR-FKB   Document 17-1   Filed 07/26/22   Page 9 of 12



 10
   

II. The Court Should Impose a Civil Money Penalty against Defendant McHenry 

Section 20(d) of the Securities Act authorizes the Commission to seek civil penalties.  Here, 

a civil penalty of $80,000 against McHenry is appropriate as a general and specific deterrent based 

on the conduct described above.  As stated, McHenry, operating directly and through First South, 

sold millions of dollars in unregistered promissory notes fraudulently offered by Adams and 

Madison Timber.  By doing so, Defendants violated the federal securities laws by (1) regularly 

engaging in the business of effecting securities transactions for others; and (2) failing to register as 

brokers. 

   

Respectfully submitted this 26th day of July, 2022. 

      /s/W. Shawn Murnahan 
W. Shawn Murnahan 
Senior Trial Counsel 
Georgia Bar No. 529940 
Tel: (404) 842-7669 
Email: murnahanw@sec.gov 
 
COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFF 
Securities and Exchange Commission 
Atlanta Regional Office 
950 East Paces Ferry Road, N.E., Suite 900 
Atlanta, GA  30326-1382 
Tel (main): (404) 842-7600 
Fax: (404) 842-7666 
 
OF COUNSEL  
 
Darren J. LaMarca 
United States Attorney for the 
Southern District of Mississippi 
                                                                         
Angela Givens Williams 
Assistant United States Attorney 
Miss. Bar No. 102469 
501 East Court Street, Suite 4.430 
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Jackson, Mississippi 39201 
Tel: 601-973-2822              
angela.williams3@usdoj.gov 
 
Civil Division 
United States Attorney's Office 
Southern District of Mississippi 
501 East Court Street, Suite 4-430 
Jackson, MS 39201 
Tel: (601) 973-2887 
Fax: (601) 965-4409
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Certificate of Service 

I hereby certify that on July 26, 2022, I electronically filed the foregoing with the Clerk 

of the Court using the ECF system which sent notification of such filing to counsel of record, 

and I hereby certify that I have emailed the document to wbmcjr@gmail.com and mailed by 

United States Postal Service the document to the following non-ECF participants: 

     William B. McHenry, Jr. 
     P.O. Box 1769 
     Ridgeland, MS 39158 
 
         /s/W. Shawn Murnahan 
         W. Shawn Murnahan 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSIPPI  

NORTHERN DIVISION  
  

  
  
  
  
  

    Case No. 3:21-CV-554-CWR-FKB 
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
 

[PROPOSED] FINAL JUDGMENT 
  

The Securities and Exchange Commission having filed a Complaint; Defendants William 

B. McHenry, Jr. (“McHenry”) and First South Investments, LLC (“FSI”) (collectively, 

“Defendants”) having failed to defend this action; the Clerk having entered a default pursuant to 

Fed.R.Civ.P. 55(a) on January 31, 2022; the Court having denied Defendants’ motion to vacate 

the default; and the Commission having moved for a default judgment against Defendants; the 

Court enters the following judgment for good cause: 

I. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that Defendants are 

permanently restrained and enjoined from violating Sections 5(a) and (c) of the Securities Act of 

1933 (the “Securities Act”)[15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and 77e(c)] by, directly or indirectly, in the 

absence of any applicable exemption:  

  
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION,  
  
Plaintiff,  
  

v.  
  
WILLIAM B. MCHENRY, JR. and 
FIRST SOUTH INVESTMENTS, LLC ,   
  

Defendants.  
  

Case 3:21-cv-00554-CWR-FKB   Document 17-2   Filed 07/26/22   Page 1 of 4



2 
 

(a) Unless a registration statement is in effect as to a security, making use of any 

means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce 

or of the mails to sell such security through the use or medium of any prospectus 

or otherwise; or  

(b) Making use of any means or instruments of transportation or communication in  

interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to sell or offer to buy through the use 

or medium of any prospectus or otherwise any security, unless a registration 

statement has been filed with the Commission as to such security, or while the 

registration statement is the subject of a refusal order or stop order or (prior to the 

effective date of the registration statement) any public proceeding or examination 

under Section 8 of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77h].  

  IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that, as provided in  

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 65(d)(2), the foregoing paragraph also binds the following who 

receive actual notice of this Judgment by personal service or otherwise:  (a) Defendants’ 

officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys; and (b) other persons in active concert or 

participation with Defendants or with anyone described in (a).  

II.  

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that 

Defendants are permanently restrained and enjoined from violating Section 15(a) of the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“the Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 78o(a)] by, directly or 

indirectly, through the use of any means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, or of the 

mails, engaging in the business of a broker or dealer without registering with the Commission as 

a broker or dealer or a registered representative thereof.  
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that, as provided in 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 65(d)(2), the foregoing paragraph also binds the following who 

receive actual notice of this Judgment by personal service or otherwise:  (a) Defendants’ 

officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys; and (b) other persons in active concert or 

participation with Defendants or with anyone described in (a). 

III. 

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that 

Defendant shall pay a civil penalty of $80,000 pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act 

[15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)].  Defendant shall satisfy this obligation by paying $80,000 to the Securities 

and Exchange Commission within 14 days after entry of this Final Judgment. 

Defendant may transmit payment electronically to the Commission, which will provide 

detailed ACH transfer/Fedwire instructions upon request to the Commission.  Payment may also 

be made directly from a bank account via Pay.gov through the SEC website at 

http://www.sec.gov/about/offices/ofm.htm.  Defendant may also pay by certified check, bank 

cashier’s check, or United States postal money order payable to the Securities and Exchange 

Commission, which shall be delivered or mailed to 

Enterprise Services Center 
Accounts Receivable Branch 
6500 South MacArthur Boulevard 
Oklahoma City, OK 73169 
 

and shall be accompanied by a letter identifying the case title, civil action number, and name of 

this Court; William B. McHenry, Jr., as a defendant in this action; and specifying that payment is 

made Defendant shall simultaneously transmit photocopies of evidence of payment and case 

identifying information to the Commission’s counsel in this action.  By making this payment, 
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Defendant relinquishes all legal and equitable right, title, and interest in such funds and no part 

of the funds shall be returned to Defendant.  The Commission shall send the funds paid pursuant 

to this Final Judgment to the United States Treasury. 

The Commission may enforce the Court’s judgment for disgorgement and prejudgment 

interest by moving for civil contempt (and/or through other collection procedures authorized by 

law) at any time after 14 days following entry of this Final Judgment.  Defendant shall pay post 

judgment interest on any delinquent amounts pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961. 

IV. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that this Court shall 

retain jurisdiction of this matter for the purposes of enforcing the terms of this Judgment.  

 
  
Dated:  __________________, 2022 

___________________________________  
HON. CARLTON W. REEVES 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE  
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PLAINTIFF’S MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF ITS  
MOTION FOR FINAL JUDGMENT BY DEFAULT AGAINST  

DEFENDANTS MCHENRY AND FIRST SOUTH INVESTMENTS, LLC 
  

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 

55(b)(2) and L.U.Civ.R 7(b)(2), respectfully files this memorandum of law in support of its 

motion for final judgment by default against Defendants William B. McHenry, Jr. (“McHenry”) 

and First South Investments, LLC (“First South”) (collectively, “Defendants”). 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

I. Procedural History 

On August 26, 2021, the SEC filed its Complaint against Defendants [Dkt. No. 1, 

Complaint (“Compl.”)].  The SEC properly served Defendants with the Complaint and Summons.  

On September 29, 2021, Defendants filed two identical documents entitled “Response to Complaint 

and Motion to Dismiss.”  [Dkt. Nos. 3-4.]  Neither document admitted or denied the specific 

allegations set forth in the Complaint as required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(b)(1)(B).  The SEC filed an 

  
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION,  
  
Plaintiff,  
  

v.  
  
WILLIAM B. MCHENRY, JR. and 
FIRST SOUTH INVESTMENTS, LLC ,   
  

Defendants.  
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opposition on October 13, 2021 [Dkt. No. 6] and the Court denied Defendants’ “Response to 

Complaint and Motion to Dismiss” on November 16, 2021.  [Dkt. No. 7.] 

On January 28, 2022, the SEC filed a motion pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 55(a) for entry of 

clerk’s default against Defendants [Dkt. No. 9], which was entered by the clerk on January 31, 

2022.  [Dkt. No. 10.]  On February 1, 2022, Defendants again filed two identical documents, this 

time entitled “Motion to Vacate Clerk’s Entry of Default and Defendant’s Response.”  [Dkt. No. 

11-12.]  Again, neither document admitted or denied the specific allegations set forth in the 

Complaint as required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(b)(1)(B).  The SEC opposed the motion [Dkt. No. 14], 

and the Court subsequently denied it on March 8, 2022.  [Dkt. No. 16.] 

II. The Complaint’s Now-Admitted Factual Allegations 

Upon entry of default, a defendant admits the complaint’s well-pleaded facts.  See 

Nishimatsu Constr. Co. v. Houston Nat’l Bank, 515 F.2d 1200, 1206 (5th Cir. 1975).  Here, the 

uncontested factual allegations in the Complaint establish that Defendants are liable for failing to 

comply with the registration provisions of the federal securities laws, as set out below. 

A. Overview of Defendants’ Violations of the Registration Provisions of the 
Federal Securities Laws 

 
Starting in at least 2010, McHenry, operating directly and through his solely-owned entity, 

First South, sold millions of dollars in unregistered promissory notes fraudulently offered by Arthur 

Lamar Adams (“Adams”) and Madison Timber Properties, LLC (“Madison Timber”).  In selling 

these unregistered securities, Defendants regularly engaged in the business of effecting securities 

transactions for others, but failed to register as brokers.  (Compl. ¶1.)  By virtue of their conduct, 

Defendants violated Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”) [15 

U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and 77e(c)] and Section 15(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange 
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Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 78o(a)].  (Id. ¶2.)  Unless enjoined, Defendants are likely to commit such 

violations again in the future.  (Id.) 

B. Defendants’ Sale of Madison Timber Promissory Notes 

Madison Timber was a Ponzi scheme offering fraud primarily spearheaded by Adams.  

(Compl. ¶10.)  Operating primarily in Madison, Mississippi, Madison Timber raised large sums of 

money in exchange for promissory notes that promised a high rate of return.  (Id. ¶11.)  Madison 

Timber purported to use the invested funds to purchase timber rights from landowners in the 

Southeast, and allegedly generated profits by reselling the timber rights to lumber mills.  (Id.) 

Starting in at least 2010, Defendants began soliciting and selling promissory note 

investments for Madison Timber.  The sale of these promissory notes continued until April 19, 

2018.  (Id. ¶12.)  Defendants sold approximately promissory 159 notes to at least 28 investors that 

resulted in Madison Timber investments between thirty-one and thirty-four million dollars.  (Id. 

¶13.)  McHenry earned a 10% commission on those note sales and a monthly stipend that ultimately 

brought him over three million dollars in commissions.  (Id.) 

The promissory notes were not registered as securities with the Commission.  (Id. ¶14.)  

Neither McHenry nor First South were registered as broker with the Commission.  (Id. ¶15.) 

ARGUMENT 

I. The Default Judgment Standard 

Entry of a default judgment is left to a court’s “sound judicial discretion,” which is given 

deference upon review.  See James v. Frame, 6 F.3d 307, 310 (5th Cir. 1993); Mason v. Lister, 

562 F.2d 343, 345 (5th Cir. 1977).  In determining whether to enter a default judgment, a court 

should accept all the Complaint’s factual allegations as true, except those relating to damages.  See 
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United States v. Shipco Gen., Inc., 814 F.2d 1011, 1014 (5th Cir. 1987).  An appropriate damages 

award remains to be established by proof unless the amount is liquidated or can be mathematically 

computed.  See United Artists Corp. v. Freeman, 605 F.2d 854, 857 (5th Cir. 1979).  “Where the 

amount of damages and/or costs can be determined with certainty by reference to the pleadings and 

supporting documents, and where a hearing would not be beneficial, a hearing is unnecessary.”  

James, 6 F.3d at 310; see also United Artists Corp., 605 F.2d at 857 (holding that a damages 

hearing is not required if there is “a demonstration by detailed affidavits establishing the necessary 

facts”).  Here, the Court can determine the appropriate remedies to be imposed based on the 

allegations in the Complaint and the Declaration of Carol Hahn (“Hahn Decl.”) filed in support of 

this Motion.  The Commission is “entitled to all reasonable inferences from the evidence offered” in 

support of its motion.  Shipco Gen., 814 F.2d at 1014. 

II. The Complaint Establishes Defendants’ Securities Law Violations 

 The Complaint’s allegations establish that Defendants are liable for violating Sections 5(a) 

and 5(c) of the Securities Act and Section 15(a) of the Exchange Act.  (See Compl. ¶¶16-21.) 

A. The Madison Timber Promissory Notes Are Securities 

 The Supreme Court has held that every note is presumed to be a security unless it bears a 

strong resemblance to a judicially created list of non-security notes (including consumer financing 

and mortgage notes) or the note is of a type that should be added to the list.  Reves v. Ernst & 

Young, 494 U.S. 56, 65, 67 (1990).  To determine whether a note bears a resemblance to the non-

security notes on the list (or should be added to the list), the Supreme Court has identified the 

following factors: (1) the motivation of the parties for entering the transaction; (2) the plan of 

distribution of the instrument and whether there is common trading for speculation or investment; 

Case 3:21-cv-00554-CWR-FKB   Document 18   Filed 07/26/22   Page 4 of 12



 5
   

(3) the reasonable expectations of investors; and (4) whether there are risk-reducing factors that 

would make application of the securities laws unnecessary.  Id. at 66-67.   

 Application of the Reves factors shows that the Madison Timber promissory notes are 

securities.  Specifically: (1) investors gave Defendants money with the expectation that Madison 

Timber would acquire and sell timber-harvesting rights and pay investment returns from the profits 

made by reselling those rights; (2) the notes were offered to at least 250 investors in dozens of 

states; (3) Defendants marketed the notes as investments and referred to those who purchased them 

as “investors;” and (4) the notes were uncollateralized, uninsured, and would escape federal 

regulation entirely if the securities laws did not apply.  Id.   

In addition, in three previous matters related to Madison Timber, the Court has approved 

settlements premised on the conclusion that the Madison Timber promissory notes were securities.  

See SEC v. Adams, et al., No. 3:18-cv-00252 (S.D. Miss.); SEC v. Kelly, et al., No. 3:19-cv-00585 

(S.D. Miss.); and, SEC v. Billings, et al., No. 3:20-cv-00050 (S.D. Miss.). 

B. Defendants Sold Unregistered Securities 

1. A Prima Facie Section 5 Case Exists 

Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act prohibit the offer or sale of securities through 

the mail or interstate commerce unless a registration statement has been filed and is in effect.  To 

establish a prima facie case for a Section 5 violation, the Commission must prove (1) no registration 

statement was in effect or had been filed as to the securities, (2) the defendants sold or offered to 

sell the securities, and (3) the offer or sale was made through use of interstate means.  SEC v. 

Kahlon, 873 F.3d 500, 504 (5th Cir. 2017) (quoting SEC v. Cont’l Tobacco Co., 463 F.2d 137, 155 

(5th Cir. 1972)).  Scienter is not required to show a violation of Section 5. 
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A prima facie Section 5 case exists here because Madison Timber did not file a registration 

statement with the Commission for its promissory notes and Defendants sold those securities 

through emails, text messages, and telephone calls to investors across the United States. 

  2. No Exemptions from Registration Were Available 

No exemptions from registration applied to the Madison Timber promissory notes offering.  

First, an exemption under Section 3(a)(11) of the Securities Act, which is limited to purely in-state 

offerings, is unavailable because the promissory notes were offered and sold to investors in 

numerous states.   

Second, an exemption under Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act is unavailable because it 

only applies to “transactions . . . not involving any public offering.”  For availability of this “private 

placement” exemption, courts consider four factors: (1) the number of offerees; (2) the 

sophistication of offerees; (3) the size and manner of the offering; and (4) the relationship of the 

offerees to the issuer.  SEC v. Premium Income Corp., 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 116607, at *14 (N.D. 

Tex. Aug. 1, 2007) (quoting SEC v. Murphy, 626 F.2d 633, 644-45 (9th Cir. 1980)).   

In considering these factors, the Fifth Circuit has “held that the defendant must establish that 

each and every offeree either had the same information that would have been available in a 

registration statement or had access to such information” to qualify for the exemption.  Swenson v. 

Engelstad, 626 F.2d 421, 425-26 (5th Cir. 1980).  In this case, Madison Timber raised hundreds of 

millions of dollars by selling promissory notes to hundreds of investors throughout the United 

States, including to investors who were not sophisticated or accredited.  Consequently, the many, 

disparate investor relationships involved under Madison Timber could not have afforded the 

investors access to the sort of information that registration reveals.   
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Finally, the Regulation D exemptions found in Securities Act Rules 504, 505 (prior to its 

repeal effective May 22, 2017), and 506(b) or (c) were not available to the Madison Timber 

offering.  The Madison Timber offering was for hundreds of millions of dollars and was made to 

hundreds of investors, many of whom were unsophisticated and unaccredited; there were no 

restrictions placed on who could invest; no investigation was performed to verify if investors were 

accredited; and no investors were provided the financial information required by Rule 502 of 

Regulation D.  

3. Defendants Acted as Unregistered Brokers 

 The Defendants acted as unregistered brokers in violation of Section 15(a)(1) of the 

Exchange Act.  Absent an exemption or exception, Section 15(a)(1) of the Exchange Act makes it 

unlawful for a broker or dealer “to make use of the mails or any means or instrumentality of 

interstate commerce to effect any transactions in, or to induce or attempt to induce the purchase or 

sale of, any security” unless such broker or dealer: (1) is registered with the Commission in 

accordance with Section 15(b); (2) in the case of a natural person, is an associated person of a 

registered broker-dealer; or (3) satisfies the conditions of an exemption or safe harbor.  There is no 

scienter requirement under Section 15(a)(1).  SEC v. Helms, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 110758, at *50 

(W.D. Tex. Aug. 21, 2015), aff’d on reconsideration, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 142704 (W.D. Tex. 

Oct. 20, 2015).   

 Section 3(a)(4) of the Exchange Act defines a “broker” generally as any person “engaged in 

the business of effecting transactions in securities for the account of others.”  This definition 

“connote[s] a certain regularity of participation in securities transactions at key points in the chain 

of distribution.”  Mass. Fin. Servs., Inc. v. Sec. Inv. Prot. Corp., 411 F. Supp. 411, 415 (D. Mass. 

1976), aff’d, 545 F.2d 754 (1st Cir. 1976); see also SEC v. Nat’l Exec. Planners, Ltd., 503 F. Supp. 
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1066, 1073 (M.D.N.C. 1980).  The terms “engaged in the business” and “effecting transactions” are 

not defined by statute; however, courts have considered a number of factors to determine whether a 

person is a broker.  These factors include whether the person: (1) receives transaction-based 

compensation (such as commissions); (2) sells, or previously sold, securities from other issuers; (3) 

is involved in negotiations between the investor and the issuer; (4) makes valuations as to the merits 

of an investment or gives advice; (5) actively solicits investors; and/or (6) handles customer funds 

and securities.  See Helms, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 110758, at *50.  These factors are not exclusive, 

and not all must be satisfied.  See SEC v. Benger, 697 F. Supp. 2d 932, 945 (N.D. Ill. 2010). 

 Defendants acted as unregistered brokers when they actively sought investors through 

solicitations, distributed offering documents, collected investor funds, distributed to investors their 

purported returns, facilitated the exchange of necessary information between Madison Timber and 

investors, and received transaction-based compensation.  Defendants sold approximately $34 

million of Madison Timber promissory notes over at least 8 years, which demonstrates that they 

regularly participated in these transactions.  McHenry received compensation in the form of sales 

commissions, rather than a salary.  Prior to working with Madison Timber, McHenry sold securities 

while associated with a registered broker-dealer.  Defendants also discussed the value of the 

securities with investors and scheduled and participated in meetings between investors and Adams.  

Finally, Defendants were the main, and in many cases sole, contact for investors with Madison 

Timber.  Defendants were not registered with the Commission as broker-dealers or associated with 

a registered broker-dealer at the time they sold Madison Timber’s securities, nor did they qualify for 

an exception or exemption to the broker registration requirements. 

Case 3:21-cv-00554-CWR-FKB   Document 18   Filed 07/26/22   Page 8 of 12



 9
   

RELIEF REQUESTED 

I. The Court Should Enter Permanent Injunctions Against Defendants 

Permanent injunctive relief is appropriate if there is a reasonable likelihood that the 

defendants, if not enjoined, will engage in future illegal conduct.  See, e.g., FTC v. Southwest 

Sunsites, Inc., 665 F.2d 711, 718-19 (5th Cir. 1982).  In granting or denying injunctive relief, courts 

consider the following factors: (1) the egregious nature of the defendant’s actions; (2) the isolated or 

recurrent nature of the violations; (3) the degree of scienter involved; (4) the sincerity of the 

defendant’s assurances, if any, against future violations; (5) the defendant’s recognition of the 

wrongful nature of their conduct; and (6) the likelihood that defendant’s occupations will present 

opportunities (or lack thereof) for future violations.  SEC v. Zale Corp., 650 F.2d 718, 720 (5th Cir. 

1981) (quoting SEC v. Blatt, 583 F.2d 1325, n.29 (5th Cir. 1978)).   

Due to his financial situation, and despite his age, McHenry is continuing to work and plans 

to continue to arrange the sales of farm equipment and oil and gas leases.  The sale of the oil and 

gas leases may constitute the sale of securities.  Section 2(a)(1) of the Securities Act defines 

“security” to include any “fractional undivided interest in oil, gas, or other mineral rights,” and 

Section 3(a)(10) of the Exchange Act defines “security” to include any “certificate of interest or 

participation in any profit-sharing agreement or in any oil, gas, or other mineral royalty or lease.”  

Given his securities and fundraising background, his need to earn an income, and his stated plans to 

continue selling oil and gas leases, McHenry may attempt to sell securities again if he is not 

enjoined.  First South should also be enjoined because it was the entity through which McHenry 

sold the Madison Timber promissory notes and previously sold oil and gas leases.    
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II. The Court Should Impose a Civil Money Penalty against Defendant McHenry 

Section 20(d) of the Securities Act authorizes the Commission to seek civil penalties.  Here, 

a civil penalty of $80,000 against McHenry is appropriate as a general and specific deterrent based 

on the conduct described above.  As stated, McHenry, operating directly and through First South, 

sold millions of dollars in unregistered promissory notes fraudulently offered by Adams and 

Madison Timber.  By doing so, Defendants violated the federal securities laws by (1) regularly 

engaging in the business of effecting securities transactions for others; and (2) failing to register as 

brokers. 

   

Respectfully submitted this 26th day of July, 2022. 

      /s/W. Shawn Murnahan 
W. Shawn Murnahan 
Senior Trial Counsel 
Georgia Bar No. 529940 
Tel: (404) 842-7669 
Email: murnahanw@sec.gov 
 
COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFF 
Securities and Exchange Commission 
Atlanta Regional Office 
950 East Paces Ferry Road, N.E., Suite 900 
Atlanta, GA  30326-1382 
Tel (main): (404) 842-7600 
Fax: (404) 842-7666 
 
OF COUNSEL  
 
Darren J. LaMarca 
United States Attorney for the 
Southern District of Mississippi 
                                                                         
Angela Givens Williams 
Assistant United States Attorney 
Miss. Bar No. 102469 
501 East Court Street, Suite 4.430 
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Jackson, Mississippi 39201 
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angela.williams3@usdoj.gov 
 
Civil Division 
United States Attorney's Office 
Southern District of Mississippi 
501 East Court Street, Suite 4-430 
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     William B. McHenry, Jr. 
     P.O. Box 1769 
     Ridgeland, MS 39158 
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         W. Shawn Murnahan 
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